
Auburn as it appeared in the thirties

Lafayette's last view of the lake country was at
Skaneateles, where every home bespoke its hospitality
with lighted candles peeping from every window.

The counties of the Finger Lakes Region were
organized in the following order: Ontario, 1789; Tioga,
1791; Onondaga, 1794; Steuben, 1796; Cayuga, 1799;
Seneca, 1804; Tompkins, 1817; Yates, 1823; Chemung,
1836; Schuyler, 1854.

The forces at work in the settlement period largely
determined the character of the frontier villages and
their enterprise in the period to come. Those who
erected the grist mills and saw mills, the store keepers,

the lumbermen and road builders and the owners of
cloth mills were men whose life and prosperity depend-
ed upon their own initiative, courage and resourceful-
ness.

In this settlement period, the lake country was al-
most self supporting. Articles obtained from the outer
world were few. Families subsisted largely upon the
things they grew and their own ingenuity produced.
Necessity made both men and women "jacks of all
trades." And it nurtured motive forces in those early
settlers that made communities strong and ready for
the new and broader life.
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Half £entury of development
IKE the hard and glorious
period of settlement, the half
century of development in
the Finger Lakes Region from
1829 to 1879 proved momen-
tous in the advance of prog-
ress. The settlers who had
blazed t r a i l s , harnessed
streams, planned towns mere-
ly paved the way for other
pioneers, whose genius and
fortitude have contributed
i thousand devices for com-
fort, convenience and easier
living. In this period the
telegraph and then the tele-

phone came to the lake country, but the outstand-
ing achievement was the spanning of hill and valley
by bands of steel rails.

The stage coach and the Erie Canal had been mag-
nificent expressions of an indomitable courage, but it
was the railroads, threading between the lakes, which
gave first evidence that time and distance had come
under the control of man.

On April 1834, the first railroad in the lake country
was opened. The Cayuga and Susquehanna Railroad,
second road chartered in this state, ran its first train
between Ithaca and Owego. The road had been charter-
ed still earlier, in 1828, with a capital stock of $150,000.
In 1837 the road failed and was sold for $4,500. Today
substantially this same old line chartered to bring
salt, lumber and plaster to the Susquehanna and its
barge fleet, is known as the Cayuga division of the
Delaware, Lackawanna & Western.

The second railroad into the lake region—the
Auburn & Syracuse—was incorporated May 1, 1834,
a month after the opening of the Ithaca-Owego road.
Its authorized capital was $400,000 and it was to be a
continuation of the first road in the state, that from
Albany to Schenectady. Settlers scoffed at the idea

that a railroad could cross the hills about Auburn.
Subscriptions had to be forced, the public fearing the
competition of packet boats on the Erie. Constant
effort among residents between Auburn and Syracuse
finally resulted in all the stock being subscribed, but
2350,000 of the $400,00 was taken by Auburnians.
The company organized in 1835 and by 1838 the road
was practically completed. The first excursion train
upon it made the trip of twenty-three miles, January
8, 1838, the train being drawn on wooden rails by
horses of Col. John M. Sherwood, stage coach magnate
who lived in Skaneateles. On June 4, 1839 a second
excursion went to Auburn to celebrate completion of
the entire distance, but this was drawn by an engine.

In 1836 the Auburn & Rochester Railroad Com-
pany was organized to complete the line from Albany
to Rochester. Ground was broken in 1838 and the first
train left Rochester for Canandaigua on Thursday,
September 10, 1840, but owing to some hinderances
by an unfinished track it did not arrive there until
Sunday, and started for the return trip on Monday.

On September 22 the first time-table was issued.
These were for freight and passengers, three trains a
day. The first conductor on the road was William
Failling and the first baggageman Herman G. Miller.
The fare from Rochester to Canandaigua was nine
shillings, which was afterward reduced to five and then
advanced to six.

It was then proposed to complete the road to
Geneva by May 15, 1841. The work was done rapidly,
and the road was continued to Seneca Falls. The first
passenger train east was an excursion train which
ran to Seneca Falls, July 4, 1841.

The bridge over Cayuga Lake was completed in
September of the same year, and during November
the road was completed to Auburn.

Two tracks were built between Geneva and Can-
andaigua, but one was sufficient tor the business and
the other was taken up. The track consisted of scant-
ling about four inches square and laid on top of the

Barge Canal Lock near Cayuga- Waterloo's prize canal lock; lock at Seneca Falls.
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ties, upon which were placed strips of halt-inch thick,
two-inch wide, iron, spiked. Often the strips would
come loose by the wheels running over them, and they
would run through the bottom of the cars, and some-
times persons were killed by being run through by
them.

The first train that left Geneva consisted of two
coaches and an engine. Each coach would hold 15 or
16 people. It was a free train, to test the road. The
train returned the same day, running about 10 miles
an hour and stopping often. Wood was used in the
engine.

Many people along the line of the road had a great
antipathy against the cars. A colored woman, Old
Annie Lee, as she was called, had such hatred toward
the cars that when the first train came through she
armed herself with an axe and standing in the center
of the track defied them to come further or she would
cut the engine to pieces. Many times afterwards she
greased the tracks, making it impossible for the cars
to proceed until the tracks were cleaned.

In 1853 the direct road from Syracuse to Rochester
was completed with a single track.

Both the Auburn & Syracuse and the Auburn &
Rochester now form the Auburn branch of the New
York Central.

The Erie was extended to Elmira in 1849 and to
Corning the following year.

The Northern Central Railroad, now part of the
Pennsylvania system and known as the Elmira Di-
vision, originated as the Canandaigua and Corning
Railroad. On March 12, 1845, publication was made
of application for incorporation. The bill passed
May 11, 1845. The capital was to be gl,600,000. Time
was extended April 16, 1847 and again March 24,
1849. An adjourned meeting was held at the town
house at Canandaigua on May 30, 1845. J. M. Wheeler,
M. H. Sibley, Tared Wilson, John A. Granger and
Oliver Phelps, a committee appointed February 27,
submitted a favorable report, and another committee
was appointed to procure a survey of the route.

— 192.9

Early Hammondsport settlement when the foundation for the great Keuka vineyard de-
velopment was started.

Canoga Spring, Cayuga, discovered in the Nineteenth Century

Marvin Porter was the engineer employed, and his
work was completed in July- The total cost of building
and furnishing the road was estimated at $950,100.
It long remained doubtful if the amount required
could be raised. Meantime meetings were held and the
subject kept in mind.

The breaking of the ground towards the commence-
ment of work took place at Penn Yan on July 4, 1850.
In 1851 the enterprise was under full headway. On
June 25 one thousand men were employed laying rails
from Penn Yan to Jefferson, now Watkins Glen, and
grading near Canandaigua. The road was opened from
Canandaigua to Jefferson in September, 1851, the New
York and Erie Railroad furnishing engines, cars, etc.,
for a specified rate per mile.

The first engine, No. 94, with passenger cars at-
tached, was run over the road, a distance of 46.74 miles,
in two hours, on September 15. Marvin Potter was
the first superintendent and three trains per day were
run each way. A depot building was erected by Judge
Phelps at Canandaigua, and this, on December 23,
was burned in a large conflagration which destroyed
much valuable property. The road connected with the
Chemung Railroad at Jefferson, and changed name
September, 1852, to Canandaigua and Elmira~Railroad.

The directors met at Penn Yan
during September to appoint employees
and arrange to run the road on their
own account. On January 1, 1853, the
company began to run their own trains
They had purchased six engines and a
sufficient number of cars. The Che-
mung road was leased and under their
control for an indefinite period. Two
passenger and two freight trains were
run the round trip daily.

The road was sold to parties in
Elmira, Penn Yan and Providence, R-
I., on April 23, 1857 and possession
given May 1. Price was 335,000, sub-
ject to a half million dollars due bond-
holders. The name was changed to
Elmira, Canandaigua and Niagara
Falls Railroad.

The total cost of the road, equip-
ments and other expenses, September
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30, 1858, was £200,000. Earnings
$17,989.46 Transportation ex-
penses, #11,947. During the year,
15,852 passengers had been car-
ried and 4,293 tons of freight.
The road is now run as a part of
the Northern Central Railroad,
the terminus being at Canan-
daigua.

The first Skaneateles Rail-
road company was incorporated
May 16, 1836 with a capital of
£25,000. In 1838 the construc-
tion of a wooden railroad be-
tween Skaneateles and Skan-
eateles Junction was started to
connect with the Auburn and
Syracuse road and on September
30, 1840 the road was opened
for passengers, who were trans-
ported in a horse car. This crude
line was closed August 24, 1850
and gave place to a plank road
which was succeeded by a steam road, organized
in 1866, and placed in operation a year later. Only
five miles long, the railroad is one of the shortest in
the country.

The Southern Central was completed from Auburn
through Freeville to Owego in 1869, in which year a
charter was procured for the Ithaca and Cortland
Railroad to meet the Southern Central at Freeville
and to pass on to Cortland.

In 1870 a charter was granted for the Ithaca &
Athens Railroad to Athens, Pa., to connect with the
Lehigh. These three roads later merged with the Lehigh.

The Geneva & Ithaca Railroad opened in 1872 and
the same year the Cayuga Lake Railroad from Ithaca
to Auburn. These, too, were taken over by the Lehigh.

Other roads which have helped to build the pros-
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Old four story limestone mill built at Union Springs in 1835 by George

Genesee Street, Auburn, before the di) s ot the trolley oi the telephone

perity of the lake country might be chronicled, but
these mentioned give a conception of the railroad ex-
pansion and place sufficient emphasis on this phase
of the development period. There have been successes
and failures, the later being exemplified in the Short
Line or Central New York Southern Railroad built in
1909 from Auburn to Ithaca and torn up when in re-
ceivership in 1924.

Coming of the railroads brought a new mail service
to the frontiers. It was not many years before postage
ranged from six and a half to twenty-five cents. To-
ward the close of the war of 1812 the maximum was
increased fifty per cent more, so that a letter from one
part of the state to another cost the sender 3 7 ^ cents.

The railroad era gave place to the age of wire.
Before many settlers had ever ridden on a train, the

frontiers began to hear of
the strange telegraph of
Morse. The first telegraph
message was transmitted
May 27,1744 between Wash-
ington and Baltimore and
soon thereafter it invaded
the Finger Lakes country
to hurry along the tide of
progress. Two years later
the first line reached Au-
burn, enabling the first
newspaper in Auburn to
start publication.

Extension ot lines gave a
new impetus to journalism.
The first telegraph office in
Elmira was opened in 1850
over a drug store and ran
to Canandaigua to connect
with the New York Central
railroad wires.

Next to the inventor of
Howland at a cost of 5540,000.00. the telegraph, none did

page twenty-nine



^779 —. 192-9

more to make it practical than two men from the
Finger Lakes country. It was Millard Fillmore,
born in a forest home not many miles from Owasco
Lake, who, as a member of Congress in 1842 pro-
cured for Morse a government appropriation for
the construction of an experimental line. Morse's
idea was to bury wires. The man who suggested
stringing them on poles was Ezra Cornell of
Ithaca, founder of Cornell University. Mr. Cornell
made a fortune out of the idea and hastened the
day when coast speaks to coast without delay.

The building of the Chenango Canal was start-
ed in 1830 and completed in three years. It ex-
tended from Watkins Glen to Elmira and, to-
gether with a navigable feeder from Horseheads
to Corning, was thirty-nine miles in length and '
cost $344,000. It had fifty-three locks and a rise
of 516 feet. This opened the southermost section
of the lake country by a water route to the Hudson.
Finally the canal was abandoned.

Started simultaneously with the Chenango Canal,
the Crooked Lake Canal between Penn Yan and
Dresden, a distance of seven miles, was completed in
1833. The canal bed proper is now used by the New
York Central railroad as the roadbed. This line was
the Fall Brook Railroad before the New York Central
acquired control. Where the old canal bed is not used
the tracks are laid along the towpath. It is a historic
feature of the Finger Lakes Region.

The tracks are laid through several of the original
locks of the old canal, one being located near the old
Cascade Paper mill, now the site of the extensive
chemical plant ot the Taylor Chemical Company of
Penn Yan and New York City.

There were twenty-eight locks of the lift pattern
in the seven miles of the old canal, the canal being fed
by the waters of Lake Keuka and terminated in Seneca
Lake. The main lock for the letting in or shutting off
the water was located at Mam Street, Penn Yan, where

Stone mill, at Auburn, one of the oldest structures along the Genesee turnpike. It wa
erected more than a century ago by John Hardenbergh. The stone relic stands today.

Old Arsenal, Moravia, 1800.

the present bridge crosses Mam Street, and close by,
a few teet to the south, was a second bridge over the
Minnesetah River, the outlet of Lake Keuka, which
flowed into Seneca Lake.

The Crooked Lake Canal was constructed for ship-
ping over Lake Keuka, the canal entering Seneca
Lake where shipping went over waterways to the Erie
Canal, thus on to Albany and New York City. The
canal was completed at a cost of $137,000 and gave
great impetus to traffic in the region of Lake Keuka,
formerly known as Crooked Lake, from the time ot
its completion to its abandonment in 1869 or 1870,
a period of about thirty-seven years.

Laden canal boats from any point on Lake Keuka
were towed over the lake by the early steamboats, to
the canal junction in Penn Yan, where they were
taken in charge by horses or mules over the Crooked
Lake Canal, and towed to Dresden, on Seneca Lake,
north or south by steamboats, five in number, each
doing a large amount of business sixty years ago.

The names ot these steamers were The Elmira,
S. T. Arnot, P. H. Field, Duncan
S. Magee and Canadesega.

At the head of Seneca Lake
was the village of Jefferson, now
Watkins Glen. There canal boats
passed southward through theChe-
mung canal, which was one of the
last lateral canals in this section
ot the state.

Large quantities of grain,
lumber and farm products not
naturally perishable within the
period ot navigation, were con-
veyed over the Crooked Lake
Canal. Merchandise was trans-
ported on canal boats on their
return trips from Albany and
New York, to the villages in Lake
Keuka region, thus supplying a
large number o f merchants with
their stocks of goods, all of which
was locked through the Crooked
Lake Canal, which descended
tor a distance of approximately
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270 feet from Lake Keuka extending to Seneca Lake.
Upon the abandonment ot the canal in consequence

•of the dropping off of the matter of clearances and tolls,
owing to competition of railroads with their faster
transportation facilities, the old lock at Seneca Falls
was left in nearly its original condition for years.

In the development period in the lake country, the
"woman's rights movement" in America found birth
at Seneca Falls. On July 19, 1848 at a meeting of
advocates ot the movement the legal "wrongs" of
women were brought to public attention. Among the
group present were James Mott, his wife, Lucretia
Mott, Mrs. Elizabeth Cady Stanton, Mrs. Amelia
Bloomer, Ansel Bascom, Thomas McClintock and
Frederick Douglas.

Until that time the rights and responsibilities of
married women were determined largely by the old
"common law" ot England. A woman's rights at mar-
riage merged with those of her husband. Apart from
him she could own no property, make no contracts,
could not collect or use her own earnings, nor control her
children. Mrs. Stanton urged before a Seneca Falls'
meeting that the ballot be given woman. This meeting
was followed by others in many parts of the state and
the movement launched in the lake country amid
ridicule, resulted in the equal ballot of today. In the
same territory where the Indian woman had the right
of the vote, sprang the germ of action which gave the
ballot to her white sister.

On the morning of April 12, 1861 the lake region
was electrified by news of the firing on Fort Sumter
and the start of a four year war which halted the de-
velopment of commerce and industry for the business
of battle. In the region which nurtured William H.
Seward, the great abolitionist, the fires of patriotism
were kindled with a suddeness visible in few sections
of the nation. And during the period of conflict the

A view of Genesee Street, Auburn, many years after this spot
had been dubbed the "worst mud hole between Albany and Buf-
falo." Trees are shown in front of the stores in the business section.

A view inside the yard of Auburn prison before the Civil War
evidences the changes brought by the years. Note the "stove
pipe" hats of the guards, the presence of grass in the yard
and the sidewalk down the center.

towns and the countrysides of the Finger Lakes gave
of their manhood and womanhood, their money and
their rescources to an extent surpassed by few if any
regions of the land. Of the 50,033 men and the ?150,-
000,000 which the war cost the state, the lake country
bore a staggering share.

Volumes might be written of the history of the
dozens of regiments which went out of the lake zone

and returned decimated. But in a volume of this
nature, even an attempt to chronicle the region's
part in the Civil War would be impossible. Only
a few incidents may properly here be cited. At the
outset of the conflict, one of three military depots
in the state was established at Elmira, which
formed a hub tor sending men to the front.

Each county sent men to many regiments and
some regiments were composed entirely ot resi-
dents of the lake country. The number ot regiments
to which the lake country sent men follow: Cayuga,
22; Chemung, 31; Onondaga, 36; Ontario, 29;
Schuyler, 20; Seneca, 20; Steuben, 29; Tioga, 17;
Tompkins, 13; Yates, 18.

The immediate material results of the war on
the lake country were beneficial, giving a hint of the
prosperity period ahead. Large sums were distribut-
ed to producers of all kinds to meet the necessities
and waste of war; to laborers, to manufacturers
and to public carriers. Many ot the urban com-
munities grew rapidly and the entire region was in
strong position to withstand the financial reaction
of 1873. The region fared much better in that hour
of depression than many districts and began the
third half century of her lite with a proud, firm
faith in her future.
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Half Century of Prosperity
ET firmly upon a foundation

of intrepid pioneer courage
and the faith and vision of
builders who conquered rivers
and mountains and distance,
the prosperity of the last half

1 century from 1879 to this
sesqui-centennial year has
brought a new era of happy
living to the Finger Lakes.

The age of power came to
take the load from men's
backs. The gallop of the iron
horse along steel trails be-

tween the lakes throbbed in unison with the purr of a
new servant of man—the automobile. The silver
wings of airplanes were reflected in the limpid waters
of the lakes and in urban home and sequested camp,
the voice of the world came to the Finger Lakes through
radio.

The great inventions of this third half [century
came early to the lake country; some of them, the sea-
plane, the talking movie, the adding machine, etc.,
went out of the lake region'as the gift of her citizens
to mankind.

The mighty Corliss steam engine, that stood in the
center of Machinery Hall at the Centennial Exposi-
tion, was the symbol of the mechanical power achieve-
ment o f the second half century — great power, but
irrevocably bound to the locality where it was pro-
duced. The long distance transmission line is the sym-
bol of the more mobile power of this third half century,
when power pioneers of Niagara followed the route of
Sullivan's march in the lake country.

Power was developed at Niagara as early as 1757.
Water wheels were improved down through the years,
but the art of transmission remained at a standstill.
Rope drive, shafting and compressed air were pro-
posed—and rejected. Industries using Niagara Power
were few in number and were limited in location to the
banks of the hydraulic canal at Niagara Falls.

Electricity, late in the 19th century, opened the
way to more widespread use of Niagara Power. Dis-
couragement and difficulty beset the pioneers of elec-
trical development, but perserverance at last won

its reward. Niagara Power was successfully transmit-
ted to Buffalo, 23 miles away, on November 16, 1896.

Only a few years later came the startling announce-
ment that it was proposed to transmit the power of
Niagara across the Finger Lakes region to Syracuse
over ISO miles away.

Many thought the project rank folly, but the power
pioneers settled grimly to their task. Day by day the
line was pushed nearer its goal. It passed Rochester
and swung across the rolling hills of Wayne. In 1906
it reached Syracuse, and people excitedly told one
another that again the impossible had been done.

Two years later a line of steel towers was built
81 miles from Rochester through the Finger Lakes
country to supply Geneva, Auburn and Syracuse.
Motorists see this line as they drive between Auburn
and Seneca Falls.

Montezuma Marshes presented the greatest single
obstacle to the line builders. The bottomless swamp
afforded no sound footing for the towers, and it was
freely prophesied that the first windstorm would carry
out the entire line. But the engineers were not dis-
couraged. They sank piles in the mud and on them
built reinforced concrete foundations. On these mats
of concrete the towers were anchored—and there they
stand today.

In 1928 a second steel tower line, over the same
route, was completed. The original line of 1906 has
been replaced by a newer and shorter line.

Niagara Power now flows into the northern Finger
Lakes territory over five circuits through Rochester.
It serves the southern part of the region with Geneseo
and Geneva as the gateways. Extension of the Niagara
line was only one of many agencies which brought
great power to the lake country in the past fifty years.

Today new projects for harnessing nature's wild-
horses are underway that will make the plunging
streams of the lake region turn industry's wheels and
light cities and villages. Already work is nearly com-
pleted on the big Lake Lamoka Power Company de-
velopment. The project calls for the impounding of
the waters of the Lamoka Valley, including Lamoka,
Waneta and several smaller lakes. The reservoir,
when completed, will extend from Savona on the
Cohocton River northward to Wavne a distance of

MI p

I^ifjc Canal locks at Seneca Fa
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approximately 16 miles. Hundreds of acres of farm land
and a number of small villages will be inundated.

Robert O. Hayt of Corning, a civil engineer as-
sociated with the project for more than 10 years, has
estimated the cost of the finished work at more than
{512,000,000. When the dam at Savona is completed,
a spillway at Wayne will drop the water from the
reservoir a distance of 395 feet to Keuka Landing on
Lake Keuka, directly below the Wayne Hills. A power
house is built at that point.

During those hours of the day when the load on
the power system is lowest, the water from Lake Keuka
will be pumped back up the hill into the Wayne res-
ervoir, to pour down the spillway again, thus passing
again and again through the Keuka power house.

Additional power will be derived from another
power house near Dresden on Seneca Lake where the
water from Lake Keuka drops 200 feet into Seneca.
The present outlet of Lake Keuka will not be used,
but a new canal will be constructed to carry the water
to the Seneca power house.

It is planned also to utilize the flood waters of the
Cohocton River between Bath and Kanona. It is ex-
pected that ultimately a race will be built from Baker's

Mills eastward through Bath to the dam at Savona
to convey all surplus water from the river, during the
spring or seasons of protracted rains, to the reservoir.
This race would be tapped at several points to receive
overflow water from several small creeks which empty
into the river below Baker's Mills. The complete
system will develop more than 200,000,000 kilowatt
hours, the power being distributed over a wide area
in Western New York.

Along the Owasco River between Auburn and
Port Byron a hydro-electric development is underway,
with a million dollars as the reputed amount to be ex-
pended in harnessing Owasco. It is one of several
others in this region, which in such development
ranks well with any section of the state. And New
York State electric utilities on the first of the year had
in operation 190 hydro-electric generating plants with
a total installed capacity of 1,559,695 horsepower,
according to a report just published by the U. S.
Geological Survey. This is more than 13 per cent of
all utility hydro-electric capacity in the United States,
and is second only to that of California, which has a
total of 2,207,447 horsepower. Alabama is third, with
798,560 horsepower. Municipal hydro-electric plants
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are included in those figures.
While New York State is second

to California in developed water-
power utility plants, it leads all
others in production ot electricity
by utilities, and in 1928 established
a new high record of more than 13
billion kilowatt hours of current.

In addition to the 190 utility
hydro-plants in Xew 1 ork there
are also 318 water-power stations
operated by manufacturing com-
panies, mills, etc., says the report.
These have an aggregate capacity
of 253,806 horsepower, giving the
state a total ot 508 water-power
plants with a total installed ca-
pacity ot 1,813,501 horsepower.

Ot the current generated by
Xew York utilities in 1928, it is
estimated that approximately 41
per cent was generated by water
power and 59 per cent by fuel-
burning plants.

In the century which brought
hydro-electric development to the
lake country, rai>oads grew in their mileage and their
service. Even waterway transportation, begun when
the Erie Canal was opened in the first period ot settle-
ment, has been extended. As years went on the in-
adequacy of the old Erie became apparent. In 1S84
the locks were lengthened. This proved a mere make-
shift and in 1903, by popular vote, New 1 ork author-
ized an expenditure of £101,000,000 to convert the
Erie into a wider and deeper barge canal. Actual
construction began in 1905 and today the canal system
represents a cost of more than £140,000,000.

In the Erie system, the Cayuga and Seneca Canal,
from the junction of the old Erie to Ithaca and Watkins,
including Cavuga and Seneca Lakes, is entirely within

Serene Contentment alontf Ow.is

Dill Street, Auburn, as it appeared about 1S90, when the livery shown above had a hun-
dred horses before the days of the auto.

the lake country and provides a waterway ninety-
two miles long. Three fourths ot the population of
the state reside within a half hour's walk ot the Barge
Canal System.

Since the building ot the Barge Canal state aid in
numerous public improvements within the lake zone
has reached a new high peak. Even since the World
War more than £40,000,000 in state highways inside
the region has brought country and city closer to-
gether. Schools have improved, public utilities have
been extended and conveniences taken to sequestered
places and the economic force ot government placed
behind all worthy projects for the improvement ot
the region. The latest project is reforestation.

The state legislature is
now planning to timber par-
cels of land of 500 acres or
more and in this schedule,
the counties ot the Finger
Lakes Region are listed tor
a total planting of 105,010
acres. This is apportioned
as follows: Cayuga, 9,200:
Chemung, 8,050; Onondags,
27,S00;6ntario, 2,000; Schuy-
ler, 14,000; Steuben, 17,7%
Tioga, 13,650; Tompkins, 11,-
900, Yates, 700. This is in
addition to smaller timber-
ing projects ot sportsmen >
clubs, farm bureaus and other
organizations which yearly
are setting out many thous-
and trees.

In the Spanish-American
War, the period of prosperity
was interrupted slightly, \\\\e'Auburn
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The superb system of highways, through woods and rolling hills, beside waterfalls and lapping waves, forms one of the strongest appeals to
the Finger Lakes motorist. Views above are typical of hundreds throughout the lake country. From left to right, above: "The Cut"
on the Canandaigua-Naples Highway; on the Penn-Yan-Hammondsport Highway; the Road to the Glen Springs, Watkins Glen.
Center: From the tunnel on the "Gorge Route," Skaneateles to Syracuse. Below: Where shadows play upon the Branchport-Hammond-
sport Highway; the Watkins Glen-Waterloo Highway along Seneca Lake.

boys from the lake country marched off" to serve the
colors. But the great shock came when the World
War called to farm and city and thousands went to
France. The World War cost the lake counties 808
men, divided as follows: Cayuga, 81; Chemung, 97;
Onondaga, 318; Ontario, 80; Schuyler, 11; Seneca,
38; Steuben, 98; Tioga, 25; Tompkins, 36; Yates, 24.

In the period after the great conflict men came
back, some maimed and gassed, but the spirit to carry
on was with them.

In industries, in commerce, in expansion ot public
works and all the other pursuits of peace the years

since the Armistice on November 11, 1918, the lake
country has enjoyed a new birth of progress.

Today prosperity is in the air. But the wealth of
the lake region is not in the hands ot a few. People in
general are blessed with goods and services that once
were luxuries. The optimism ot the average Finger
Lakes citizen is significant. His eagerness to accept
the new, the better method has hastened his pros-
perity—the success ot the region's business. Just as
surely it foretells the success ot businesses which today
are only dreams in the minds of their future founders,
the lake country will respond to changing times.
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Half Century of Opportunity
LEARLY, the steady sweep

of progress which has car-
ried the Finger Lakes Re-
gion to leadership in the
Empire State of the nation
is nowhere better exempli-
fied than in the oppor-
tunity that lies ahead for
a district now standing at
the crest of ISO years of
advancement.

The glorious past—the
enviable present position
of the region—may be
truthfully described as only
the prelude to an even
more glorious future.

The long trials of the Revolution settlement and
development periods, created a region enured to hard-
ship, apt in emergency, confident in its future; a region
hospitable to every new thought and idea and inven-
tion, but conscious of a sturdy basis of conservatism.

The lake country has laid deep and broad the cor-
nerstones of prosperity—a prosperity that lies in its
agriculture and its diversified industry.

Picture, for a moment, a stage seventy miles square
and embracing 5,949 square miles—the area of the
ten Finger Lakes counties. Upon it has been enacted
a pageant of progress three half centuries Ions,

The early actors were a handfull of intrepid pioneers
who sensed the opportunity which lay here on the
greatest watershed in America. Across the stage there
passed builders of towns, and cities and institutions;
inventors who made the work of the world easier;
educators who erected five colleges and hundreds of
schools within the region; financiers, philanthropists,
business men, economists and statesmen.

The forests, the frontier, the straggling settlements
have passed, until today upon this stage are scores of
cities and villages with a population totalling 664,217
souls, of which 398,899 are urban residents and 265,-
318 rural dwellers.

This population of the lake country, according to
1928 state records, has 169,214 motor vehicles, or the
equivalent of one machine to every 3.8 men, women
and children in the district, a far higher percentage
than in almost any other urban-rural section of the
United States.

The paths of the Indians are no more but on this
little stage only seventy miles square there have been

Race Track at Naples Fairground
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Totals

REGIONAL STATISTICS FOR TEN LAKE COUNTIES

Area in
COUNTY Sq. Mi.

Cayuga 703
Chemung 407
Onondaga 781
Ontario 649
Schuyler 336
Seneca 336
Steuben 1,398
Tioga 520
Tompkins 476
Yates 343

5,949

Total Road
Mileage
1,490"

875
1,635
1,348

762
704

3,094
1,067
1,091

769

State Road
Mileage

285 "
125
367
223
103
156
364
149
168
142

No. of
Mot. Veh.

15,935
17,384
65,418
15,539
3,718
6,136

21,222
6,685

11,523
5,654

Urban
35,677
53,155

203,007
23,594

2,919
10,398
35,554
10,321
18,948
5,326

-POPULATION
Rural
29,667
19,137
64,002
31,646
10,537
14,965
46,621
15,790
20,611
12,342

Total
65,344
72,292

267,009
55,240
13,456
25,363
82,175
26,111
39,559
17,668

12,835 2,082 169,214 398,899 265,318 664,217

12,835 miles of road that, if extended, would reach
more than three times across the United States. Of
this road mileage, 2,082 miles are fine state highway.

Diversified agriculture, in the richest section of
the state, is one ot the assets with which the lake coun-
try faces the future. Diversified industry is the second.
And the third boon is nearness to markets—the region
being within twenty-tour hours by train of half the
population of the nation.

From the time the first pioneers harnessed the rush-
ing streams of the lake country to drive their grist mills,
the Finger Lakes Region has been recognized for its su-
perior natural advantages to the manufacturer. Since
those olden days when water power alone was avail-
able, there have come the added boon of Niagara power,
natural gas and a network of railroads that provide
•quick and easy transportation facilities to expediate
the shipment of products to all parts of the globe. The
building of the Barge Canal tapped the region, through
its Cayuga and Seneca Lake canal spur, with the water-
ways throughout the East.

To the prospective industrial concern, the type of
cities and villages that are located among the Finger
Lakes is itself of strong appeal. Better living condi-
tions, more stable labor, improved recreational fa-
cilities, better social standing and lower costs for both
factories and men are elements of interest to the wise
manufacturer who sees in the smaller cities a new
opportunity.

More and more factory business is bound to go into
these beautiful, friendly smaller towns or cities, where
the air is clear and the fields are fresh and one knows
one's neighbors and there's room for a garden and
shade trees and roses. The home and civic atmosphere
of every Finger Lakes community makes it indeed
a fitting place in which to make a living and live while
making it.

Today the transportation facilities of the lake coun-
try and its power resources have a capacity probably
200 per cent beyond present industrial requirements.
And with decentralization ot industry on the climb,

the advantages the lake country offers the industrialism
are self evident.

A. W. Lawrence, secretary of the Genesee Country
Association, proposes joint action with the Finger
Lakes Association in a regional survey that will reveal
the lines of effort to enable the district to meet squarely
the opportunity ahead. The day of regional minded-
ness has come, he says, and in analyzing the future
development prospects he declares:

"Looking back to 1865 we find the beginning ot a
period ot tremendous movement of population toward
the middle and far West. We find high density ot
population only along the Atlantic seaboard.

This date, 1865, saw the close of the Civil War
and the commencement of the greatest railroad build-
ing era the world has witnessed. The economic problem
of that period was to manufacture and transport food,
clothing, equipment and people during the greatest
migration of population in history—over 20,000,000
people in approximately 30 years.

The solving of this economic problem brought
about the era of centralization. Immigration and
settlement was so rapid that where the West had little
or no manufacture, centralization of manufacture in
the East was imperative. Manufactures in the East
grew with leaps and bounds. Cities developed to four
or five, even ten times their former size. Distributing
centers like Chicago, St Louis, etc., developed rapidly
to supply these manufactureless people with all their
needs.

It was the day of centralization. The day of the
big city. The day of large individual concerns.

But that day has passed. It is apparent that a
new set of conditions exist. It may be well to review
some of these before drawing inferences and con-
clusions.

Again looking back it is found that 1918 or the close
of the World War, clearly marks the beginning of
another period. From 1914 to 1918 unusual war con-
ditions forced an unnatural concentration in the larger
centers to supply the demand tor war munitions. The
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Skaneateles—Highest of the Finger Lakes

same conditions limited immigration. But after 1918
the change of conditions as evidenced by census and
other figures show:

1—That the percentage of increase in most of the
large cities has decreased. Where in some cases it
was formerly as high as 25 per cent it is now as low
as 7 per cent over a five-year period.

2—That many smaller cities of 5,000 to 50,000 are
increasing at the rate ot 20 per cent to 50 per cent
in five years.

3—That with the transmission of electricity to
practically all sections ot the country, together with
the development of road and rail facilities, it is no
longer necessary or expedient for industry to be con-
centrated in the larger centers.

4—That basic industry, (iron and steel, lumber,
cotton, leather, pulp, chemicals, etc.) has gravitated
or is gravitating to the source of raw materials.

5—That secondary industry which combines sev-
eral basic products is partially decentralized.

6—That immigration has been greatly restricted.
7—That huge consolidations or combinations in

all lines of manufacture, finance and distribution are
being consummated.

8—That area or regional organizations are spring-
ing up in the country developing area consciousness.

9—That the nation has recently elected to the
office ot its chief executive a business organization
engineer.

These outstanding tacts point to two conclusions:
1—That industrialism in the United States is

going through a tremendous re-organization.
(a) That with the flood of immigration restricted

and the West settled, we have a chance for the first
time to re-organize and further develop what we have
achieved.

(b) That capital, sensing the change of conditions,
realizes this change can only be handled by large amal-
gamations with the area viewpoint and the country
as a whole tor a background.

2—That this re-organization is preparatory to
intensive development and competition of what?
Cities? No. Areas or Regions? Yes."

Major Lawrence suggests that the leadership of
Western Central New York should meet together for
the purpose of creating—

A board of economic development for Western
Central New York and that the functions of such a
board should be:

1—To co-ordinate the interests of the area.
2—To co-ordmate the regional planning bodies

of the area.
3—To make an industrial and economic survey of

the entire area.
4—To then take such steps as are expedient to

follow the best lines ot economic development.
Economics has been at work while we have been

complacent. It the leadership of the territory requires
a challenge, let the general condition speak that
challenge and it is believed that the necessary action
will be taken.

A glance at the transportation resources of the lake
country shows that there are nine railroads traversing
the region as follows—Pennsylvania, Lehigh Valley,
N. Y. "Central, D. L. & W., Bath & Hamniondsport,
Erie, But". & Susquehanna, Owasco River, Skaneateles.
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William M. Leffingwell, President
for the past three years.

Harry R. Melone, Publicity Director
since organization of association.

Edward C Cooper, secretary-treasurer
since organization of association.

-discovery of the J^ake Qountry
;HE "re-discovery" of the Finger Lakes

Region was made in 1919 by the pioneers
3 in the Finger Lakes Association, a

regional civic organization now embrac-
m g forty-three cities and villages. Like
the Iroquois of two centuries ago, this

league of towns formed for mutual benefit and unity
of effort.

Men with vision began to sense that the signs of
the times were the direction markers along the high-
ways and that the days of the walled cities had passed
forever. They conceived of America as a nation on
wheels, seeing new things, new places
and creating new loyalties and new
understandings. In the lake country
they saw some of the greatest scenic
wonders of the East in a watershed
which has no peer in America.

Through cooperation on a Twen-
tieth Century plan they set out to
advance all interests of their district
in the settlement of which intrepid
pioneers had wrought so courag-
eously. With the motor car and its
consequent new "tourist industry"
they saw the beginnings of a regional
development program that in years
to come would expand into the realm
of industry, commerce and recrea-
tion. The first step was to capitalize
the tourist industry and scenery
as a cash crop by means of the new
magic of advertising. L e o n a r d H Se:ir

The affiliated towns worked on Finger La

the principle of the merchant who pays more rent
because he has a position on a main street, where more
people pass his door, see his goods and perhaps become
his patrons for every object he has to sell. The as-
sociation knew that every drop of new blood, every
dollar that came into the region from the outside came
in to benefit every resident of the region.

For twelve months a year the association is ad-
vertising Finger Lakes communities. As a result it is
conservatively estimated that #10,000,000 a year is
spent inside the lake country by tourists and the reg-
ional association has grown from a handfull of mem-

ber towns to forty-three.
The force of honest advertising

has been called into play by the
Finger Lakes Association which
has used newspapers, magazines, the
radio, pictures, direct mail, novelties
and virtually every other legiti-
mate medium known. Advertising
experts across the country concede
that, in proportion to the amount
spent, the association has gained a
record amount of advertising.

Today the words "Finger Lakes"
are known wherever the English
language is read. Several hundred
thousand illustrated booklets have
been distributed; scenic art panels
have been erected in hotels, railroad
stations and colleges; radio talks
have been broadcast from Wash-

•ing, first president of i n S t o n ' Cleveland, New York, Syra-
kes Association. cuse, etc., and illustrated magazine
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Glenn R. Morton, Benn ken\on and Jack Causer vice-presidents of Finger Lakes Association.

and newspaper articles have appeared almost beyond
count.
i Railroads, boat lines and motor tours have been
induced to advertise the region at their own expense;
manufacturers have inserted reference to the Finger
Lakes in their national advertising and business men,
having the Finger Lakes' emblem on their stationery,
are sending out 10,000 pieces of mail matter daily from
the region with this tiny bit of advertising. Thousands
of photographs of the region have appeared in period-
icals throughout the country and hundreds ot pupils
inside the region have been influenced to write regional
descriptive letters to mayors, authors and broadcasting
stations throughout the country.

Finger Lakes advertising has been a success be-
cause it has been honest, non-com-
mercial and purely civic. It has pop-
ularized the words "Finger Lakes"
to such an extent that 100 com-
panies inside the region use the words
as part of their trade name.

Such a spectacular movement,
generated by the driving power of
many communities, has perforce
caught the ear ot authority in Al-
bany. The association has acted
as the spokesman tor a region in
asking highway improvements. It
is significant that more than 224,-
000,000 worth of state highway,
asked for by the association, has
been built already. The association
program to encircle each of the six
lakes with improved roads is rap-
idly nearing realization.

Always, the association has had
-an ear to the material benefits it
could secure for the residents of the
Tegion. Before the state voted upon E. D. Button, V.
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a 215,000,000 state park bond issue, the organization
ascertained the approach of state development of re-
creational areas. It spoke again for the region. As a
result, the lake country was one of the first in the state
to have a State Parks Commission.

Today it has eight state parks partially developed,
before some areas have their first park. And over a
million and a quarter dollars has been already spent
in the last few years on Finger Lakes State Parks.

Park development has brought more connecting
roads, it is increasing ad]acent property values and
bringing nearby towns increasing revenue from rising
assessments. Already as many as 100,000 persons a
day have visited Finger Lakes Parks.

Realizing that fish and game life is essential to the
outdoor pleasure of residents and
the attraction ot visitors, the as-
sociation has promoted a consistent
conservation program, working in
cooperation with fish and game
clubs. Through its work, nets have
been banned from all the Finger
Lakes. Better conservation legisla-
tion has been pushed and during
the summer of 1928 alone the State
Conservation Commission, at an
expense of 560,000, conducted a fish
survey ot the region, looking toward
development of a systematic policy
for stocking, feeding and future
legislation.

In short, the Finger Lakes move-
ment has, through harnessing the
strength of all communities, attain-
ed tor each benefits which a com-
munity could never attain going it
alone. It has stirred civic con-
science. A dozen chambers of com-

P. of Organization merce have been formed in small
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towns for the sole purpose of affiliation with the larger
organization.

The movement has welded all faiths, all parties,
all interests into a working whole. It has been the
medium of advertising farms in the region to middle
western farmers. It has attracted outside business
men to the towns through its exploitation. Lake-
side property values in many cases have doubled; new
hotels have opened, the region is putting its house in
order and community builders throughout the nation
are patterning after the methods employed to pro-
mote the general good of this land of lakes.

Initial steps toward the formation of the Finger
Lakes Association were taken by the Auburn Cham-
ber of Commerce, which called a conference of cham-
ber representatives from several towns of the lake
country to be held in the Osborne Hotel, Auburn, on
April 25, 1919. The idea was then favored and a
second conference was held at the Seneca Hotel, Gen-
eva on May 6 with Ithaca, Canandaigua, Penn Yan,
Auburn, Watkins Glen, Waterloo, Geneva, Montour
Falls and Hammondsport represented, A tempor-
ary organization was perfected at a meeting May IS
at the Hotel Ithaca, with the following temporary
officers: President, A. F. Freeman, Geneva; first
vice-president, Ernest D. Button, Ithaca; second vice-
president, Samuel T. Henderson, Auburn; secretary
and treasurer, Edward C. Cooper, Watkins Glen.
Mr. Henderson andL. J. Seeley, Hammondsport, were
named as a publicity committee and first action,
showing the aggressive character of the infant or-
ganization, came with the passing of formal resolu-
tions against netting in the lakes. A constitution was
here adopted.

Permanent officers were elected at a meeting May
22 at the Glen Springs, Watkins Glen, as follows:
President, Leonard H. Searing, Auburn; first vice-
president, A. F. Freeman, Geneva; second vice-presi-
dent, Ernest D. Button, Ithaca; secretary and treas-
urer, Edward C. Cooper, Watkins Glen. The pub-
licity committee recommended the appointment of
Harry R. Melone, Auburn, as publicity director for
a probationary period, his duties being to popularize
the words "Finger Lakes", to spread the fame of the
scenery, resources and history of the district and to
"sell" the exploitation movement to residents within
the region. On August 23, 1929 at a meeting at Shel-
drake on Cayuga, Mr. Melone, on motion of E. D But-
ton, was elected permanent publicity director and each
year since that time has filled the office of director of
all the association's advertising, publicity and public
relations projects.

The first annual meeting took place at Auburn on
October 31, 1919 and since the annual meeting has al-
ways been held in t ia t city. At the annual meeting
on October 28, 1925, after seven years of continuous
service as president, Leonard H. Searing, Auburn, de-
clined to run for office again because of pressure of
business duties. William M. Leffingwell of Watkins
Glen was the unanimous choice as president. Ever
since that time he has served with notable enthusiasm,
tact and progressiveness. Mr. Searing, on retirement
as a token of esteem, was presented with 3100 in gold,
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the personal gift of the officers with whom he had
served.

One of the last examples of the broad program of the
organization was its inauguration ot the state program
for a Sullivan sesqui-centennial celebration this year, in
the carrying out of which the state has appropriated
S70,000.

Members of the Finger Lakes Association today,
each ot which contributes to the regional budget a sum
fixed on a basis of seven cents per capita of population,
are: Auburn, Aurora, Bath, Burdett, Canandaigua,
Cayuga, Clifton Springs, Dresden, Dundee, Elmira,
Fair Haven, Geneva, Groton, Hammondsport, Hon-
eoye, Interlaken, Ithaca, Keuka Park, King Ferry,
Lodi, Middlesex, Montour Falls, Moravia, Myers, Na-
ples, Odessa, Ovid, Owego, Penn Yan, Prattsburgh,
Pulteney, Rushville, Romulus, Seneca Falls, Skan-
eateles, Trumansburg, Union Springs, Valois-Hector,
Waterloo, Wayne and Watkins Glen.

The Association directiors are: Auburn, Benn Ken-
yon; Aurora, James H. Chase; Bath, Dr. Walter Wood-
bury; Burdett, C. W. Partello; Canandaigua, Peter
Burke; Cayuga, Harris Mclntosh; Clifton Springs, Lee
H. Leland; Dresden, W. D. Gelder; 'undee, L. B.
Earnest; Fair Haven, William J. Bradley; Elmira/

Jack Causer; Geneva, Glenn R. Morton; Groton,
Henry M. Geisenhoff; Hammondsport, D. W. Put-
nam; Honeoye, George R. Reed; Interlaken, W. D.
Wheeler; Ithaca, E. D. Button; Keuka Park, E. W.
Cushman; Kings Ferry, S. J. Carson; Ovid, G. Ray-
mond Gray; Lodi, Monroe B. Covert; Prattsburgh,
Spencer E. Clark; Middlesex, J. H. Underwood;
Montour Falls, James Towart; Moravia, P. M. Rath-
bun; Myers, Mrs. Ellen G. Townsend; Naples, John
C. Bolles; Odessa, H. J. Couch; Owego, Joe Field;
Penn Yan, Paul Ritchey; Pulteney, W. A. McConnell;
Rushville, Prof. E. C. Corbet; Romulus, C. L. Garnett;
Seneca Falls, Earl D. Clarke; Skaneateles, Bert C.
Sellen; Trumansburg, W. P. Biggs; Union Springs,
L. V. Doremus; Valois-Hector, C. H. Beattie; Water-
loo, George L. Marshall; Wayne, Mrs. Mabel Crooks-
ton; Watkins Glen, Frank L. Millen; Glen Springs,
William M. Leffingwell.

Weaver Falls, near Groton
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Seneca Indians in aboriginal pose along Canandaigua Lake.

Six Nations Twice as Old as U. S.
/I Confederacy of nations, that for 300 years

V_/_X or twice the age of the United States,
held sway without a single internal conflict, had
its seat of power in the Finger Lakes Region before
white man set foot on America. At first it was called
the Five Nations, embracing the Mohawks, Oneidas,
Cayugas, Onondagas and Senecas. In 1722 the Tus-
caroras were added, making it the Six Nations or
Iroquois. Annals of mankind do not provide on the

same grade of civilization any parallel to the political
system of the Iroquois.

Charlevoix saw them as early as 1706 and said
"these Americans are perfectly convinced that man
is born free and that no power on earth has any right
to restrict his liberty, while nothing can make up
for its loss."

From the center of the land of the Iroquois rivers
flow to all points of the compass. Early French gover-

"Motlern" Jruquuis Indians, trom the Ononiiaga reservation at a Finger Lakes Association meeting in YVatkins Glen.
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A Cayuga Indian along the shore of Beebe Lake, Ithaca.

nors saw in this domain the seat of empire. For more
than a century France and England has been in con-
flict over the land of the Six Nations, employing the
arts of diplomacy, the force of arms and even the

persuasions of religion to secure the alliance ot the
Iroquois and thus the mastery of the new world.

But the Iroquois, to whom a pact was inviolate,
had at the outset signed treaties with the Dutch and
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then with the British successors of the Dutch. And
to the Iroquois these held, even down through the
Revolution when the Red Men espoused the cause
of the British, following out the policy established in
alliance with England a century before.

Iroquois domination was not through brute force
of numbers. Their strength in fighting men was placed
at 2,150 by Courey, agent of Virginia, in 1667; 2,000 by
DeNoville, governor of Canada in 1687; 2,030 by the
census of Sir Wil-
liam Johnson in
1763; 1,750 by
Pouchot in 1789,
and 1,900 by the
missionary Kirt-
land in 1783.

As early as
1 6 7 8 F a t h e r
Hennepin, who
visited the Con-
federacy, said:
"The Iroquois,
whom the Swed-
e s , t h e n t h e
Dutch and the
English and the
French have fur-
nished with fire-
arms, are reckon-
ed as the most
savage of all the
s a v a g e s y e t
known. They
have slam the
best warriors
among the Hu-
rons and forced
the rest of the
nation to join
with them to
make war to-
gether against all
their enemies sit-
uated five or six
hundred leagues
distantfrom their
cantons. They
have already de-
s t royed above
t w o m i l l i o n
men."

The Sachems
of the Six Na-
tions were elect-
ed in public assembly though some held hereditary
ofEce. They were in peace times the supreme civil
authority while in war they were but counselors to the
war chiefs, who held dictatorial power. The women
ot the tribes were influential factors in tribal affairs,
holding the right to nominate Sachems, while they
never spoke in council.

The tribes had various clans given animal names
such as the bear, wolf, beaver, turtle, deer, plover,

Courtesy Ahss Florence Mclr.losh

Red Jacket famed
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heron and hawk. All members of a clan were consid-
ered near relatives. One might not marry in his clan
and as children followed the mother's origin, father
and child were never of the same clan.

Commerce today runs in no paths over the eastern
part of this continent where the moccasined foot of
the Iroquois had not previously marked out the
courses of power and of control. The Six Nations were
the tribes which held the mastery of the continent

and worked out
for themselves
the initial prob-
lems of govern-
ment before the
Mayflower sailed
and before the
N e t h e r ] a n d s
fought the fight
of liberty.

In this sesqui-
centenmal year
there are approx-
imately 5,500
Indians in New
York state. At
the close of the
Revolution the
M o h a w k s re-
moved to Can-
ada and in 1779
sold all their
claims for gl,600.
The lands of the
others were grad-
ually purchased
and the remnants
of the tribes lo-
cated on reser-
vations, seven ot
which are in this
state.

The Ononda-
ga reservation,
near Syracuse,
contains 7,300
acres; the Tona-
wanda - Seneca
reservation, in
Erie and Gen-
esee counties, 7,-
548 acres; the
Alleghany-Sene-

a[Chief. cas, in Cattar-
raugus County,

30,469 acres; the Cattaraugus-Senecas, Erie, Cattar-
augus and Chautauqua Counties, 21,680 acres; the
St. Regis who entered the Confederacy after the
Revolution to replace the Mohawks , Franklin County,
14,030 acres; Tuscaroras, Niagara County, 6,249 acres;
ot the Oneidas a part live near Green Bay, Wis., and
there is an Oneida reservation of 400 acres four miles
south ot Oneida. The Cayugas are scattered among
the different tribes, the larger part of them living
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with the Senecas at Cattaraugus. When peace was
proclaimed in 1783 England made no terms for her
Indian Allies, but Chief Cornplanter brought about a
peace treaty with the United States at Fort Stanwix,
now Rome, in 1784. Councils between the Iroquois
and the United States were held at Tioga in 1790, and
at Painted Post in 1791, and the last one at Canan-
daigua in 1794, were the reservations allotted the
Indians were confirmed. The treaty of Big Tree, at
Geneseo, 1797, extinguished the title of the Six Na-
tions to their ancient possessions with the exception
of the reservations. This treaty was made between
the Seneca Nation and capitalists, the precursors of
white settlement.

Catherine Montour

Catherine Montour, for whom Montour Falls was
named, has been confounded by many writers with
Madame Montour and by others with Queen Esther
of Wyoming notoriety. She was the daughter of French
Margaret and grand daughter of Madame Montour.
Her husband was Thomas Hudson, alias Telenemut,
one of the most noted of the Seneca chiefs. She had a
son named Amochol and two daughters. Queen
Esther was her sister, as also was Mary, wife of John
Cook, another Seneca chief, who lived on the Alle-
ghany and Ohio. Catherine was living after Sullivan's
raid in 1891 "over the lake not far from Niagara."

Madame Montour was a noted personage in the
Colonial history of Pennsylvania and about 1749 when
old and nearly blind removed to the vicinity of Lake
Erie.

Queen Esther, notorious as the "fiend of Wyom-
ing," was a daughter of French Margaret and grand-
daughter of Madame Montour and a sister of Cath-
erine. She lived six miles south of Tioga Point in 1772
when she moved six miles north, founding a new town
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which was destroyed in 1778, when she probably re-
moved to Chemung. She had a son, who was killed a
short time previous to the Wyoming massacre, which
doubtless prompted her fury at that time.

After her husband's death in battle Catherine
ruled the tribe, superintended the tilling of nearby
fields, growing maize, beans and pumpkins, an orchard
of apple trees and on the meadows the raising of horses,
cattle and swine. She attended the war councils of
the Six Nations and even accompanied the chiefs to
Philadelphia to lay some grievance before the Contin-
ental Congress. Here her wondrous beauty and dignity
of bearing made a great impression. She spoke French
and English besides the Indian dialects. Upon the ap-
proach of Sullivan's expedition she fled to Canada
and died there.

"Old Smoke"

Old Smoke, known in the Indian tongue as Sayen-
querghta and also as Guiyahgwahdoh, is said by most
historians to have been the leader of the Indians in
the Wyoming massacre. His home was at Kanadesaga,
the Indian village on the site of Geneva, destroyed
by Sullivan.

Hiawatha

Hiawatha, immortalized in the poem of Longfellow,
was an Indian reformer, statesman and founder of
the great Confederacy of the Six Nations, but through
a singular complication of mistakes has by many
historians been classed as a mythological personage
and a diety of the Indian. Dates of his work vary
as much as a thousand years in various accounts.
But probably the most authenic record is the Iroquois
Book of Rites, handed down by the record keepers of
the red men and translated and correlated in 1883 by
Horatio Hale.

1

The winding Susquehanna was a wafti path for the Indians '• ut forests clothed her banks where farms now yield abundance
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This authority shows that Hiawatha, then a middle

aged chief of the Onondagas, conceived about 14S0,
or nearly a half century before Columbus discovered
America, the idea of uniting the warring tribes of the
Finger Lakes Region into a league for universal peace.
His plan was for a permanent league that ultimately
should expand until it embraced every tribe of red
men on the continent.

He presented the project to his own Onondaga
tribe, but three times failed in his appeal, because of
the opposition of
Atotarho, tryanni-
cal war lord of the
Onondagas. Then
he took his plan to
the Mohawks, bear-
ing with him a wam-
pum held as the
sign of peace. Hia-
watha means "He
W h o S e e k s t h e
Wampum B e l t . "
The great chief De-
kanawidah warmly
received the idea,
dispatching ambas-
sadors to the Onei-
das, who promised
their decision with-
in a year. At the
expiration of the
time a treaty was
ratiSed between the
Mohawks and the
Oneidas and the On-
ondagas were once
more asked to join.
Concessions of pow-
er to the formidable
Atotarho at last won
his support. The
Cayugas and Sen-
ecas were next eas-
ily induced to band
together and on the
shores of Onondaga
L a k e t h e g r e a t
chiefs met in con-
ference, with Hia-
watha as adviser,
to nominate the first
council. Hiawatha
was adopted by the
Mohawks as one of their chiefs.

The strength of the league spread until an alliance
was formed even with the distant Ojibways. The pact
remained inviolate for 200 years until French influence
undid this portion of Hiawatha's work. Hiawatha
thought beyond his time and beyond ours. For more
than three centuries the bond he welded held and the
territory of the Iroquois spread. It was the "Great
Asylum" for many tribes. The Tuscaroras, expelled
from North Carolina, became the Sixth Nation. Eries,

Monument to Logan, Fort Hill Cemetery, Auburn
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Hurons, Tuteloes, Nanticokes, Mohegans, Mississagas
and others received the hospitable protection of the
Iroquois League and many were adopted. Our own
reverence for the Constitution pales before the great
gratitude of the Six Nations for the "Great Peace"
created by Hiawatha and his colleagues.

Cornplanter

Cornplanter, orator and leader of the Senecas,
was born about 1742, the son of John Abeel, a young

fur trader and the
son of a former
mayor of Albany.
His mother was a
Seneca Indian prin-
cess named Ahqui-
piso, whom Abeel,
then under twenty,
married in a red
man ' s ceremony
after a forest court-
ship in the wilds
of the Finger Lakes
Region. The name
Cornplanter is a free
translation of his
n a ti v e cognomen,
K a i l i on t w a k o n ,
meaning The One
Who Plants.

No more roman-
tic tale of the lake
country frontier ex-
ists than that in
which Cornplanter
saved his white fath-
er's life. The father
left his home with
the Indians and
m a r r i e d M a r y
Knouts, a German
girl and was living
with her when the
Revolution b roke
out. In October,
1780, a year after
Sullivan's invasion
of the Finger Lakes,
he was taken pris-
oner by the Indians.
He looked for death,
but a young warrior,
Cornplanter, called

him father. He was given liberty to return to his white
family. Later Cornplanter visited his father, and
there, with his stepmother and half brothers and sisters,
was cordially received.

Best authorities deny the claims of some historians
that Cornplanter was also known as Handsome Lake,
was the son of a Romanist priest, an English merchant
and a French trader. Cornplanter derived his author-
ity not by succession but through recognition of his
natural abilities as a leader. He was one of the most

page forty-six



X779 192.9

prominent Senecas of military rank. As late as 1792,
Chief Cornplanter, referring to the destruction by the
Sullivan Expedition, made this eloquent address to
Washington in person:

"Father, the voice of the nation speaks to you,
the great counselor, in whose heart the wise men of
the thirteen fires have placed their wisdom. It may be
very small in your ears and we therefore entreat you
to hearken with attention, for we are about to speak
to you of things which to us are very great. When
your army entered the country of the Six Nations,
we called you the Town Destroyer; and to this day,
when that name is heard, our women look behind
them and turn pale, and our children cling close to
the sides of their mothers. Our counselors and warriors
are men and cannot be afraid; but their hearts are
grieved with
fear for their
women and
children, and
desire the past
may be buried
so deep as to be
heard no more."

The mediator,
the lover of
peace, the or-
ator—that was
Logan, the In-
d i a n w h o s e
most famous
speech has been
translated into
many langua-
ges and has be-
come a model
of eloquence for
A m e r i c a n
s c h o o l b o y s .
G e n e r a l l y
classed as a
Cayuga, he was reputed to have been born where Auburn
stands, and died two years after the Sullivan expedi-

When the dry season hushed murmuriti!

Monument at Canandaigua, commenoratimg the council
held by Col. Timothy Pickering and others with the Six Nations
in 1794. It was erected in 1902 by Dr. Dwight R. Burrell. Weighing
thirty tons, the boulder is located on the Court House square.

Replica of Iroquois Long House, built at Keuka College.

tion. But his memory remains enshrined in the
Finger Lakes country as the friend of the white man.
In 1852, almost three quarters of a century after his
death, there rose in the ancient Indian fortress, now

Fort Hill Cem-
etery, Auburn,
N. Y., a great
stone shaft in
his memory—
a monument
of esteem rear-
ed with the free
will gifts of Au-
burnians to an
Indian of whom
Judge William
Brown of Penn-
sylvania once
said: He" was
the best speci-
men of human-
ity I have ever
met with,either
white or red."

It was in
1749, when he
was but twen-
ty-two years
old, that Logan
inherited from
his father al-

most unlimited jurisdiction over the tribes of Pennsyl-
vania, north to the Long House among the Finger
Lakes and west as far as the crest of the Alleghanies.
It was not long until the general council of the Onon-
dagas raised him to a Sachem of the Shamokims and
he was elected Sachem of the Cayugas as well.

In 1754 he represented the Six Nations at a meet-
ing with the proprietaries at Albany on the sale of
lands. Then opened the long list of broken treaties
and while the French and English and the Indians
were in strife, Logan kept to his cabin. In 1770 he
moved to the Alleghany and Ohio river region. Still
further down the Ohio he went, finally stopping at
Yellow Creek.

There his troubles began. Capt. Michael Cresap,
a land jobber, heading a body of ruffians, fired upon a
canoe full of Indians paddling along the Ohio, mas-
sacring them all. The same evening in bloody debauch
Cresap visited an Indian encampment and his gang
ambuscaded the red men without provocation.

; waters in Great Gully, where citadel of Cayugas
was located.
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A few days later on April 13, 1774, while Logan

was away on a hunting trip, a party of thirty-two
whites invited five braves, several squaws and a two
months old baby across Yellow Creek to a tavern,
feigning hospitality and offering drink. Unarmed, all
the Indians save the baby were killed and most of
them scalped.
These unpro-
voked massa-
cres wiped out
the whole fam-
ily of Logan.
In the last kill-
ing were his
brother and sis-
ter, the mother
of the baby.

When Logan
returned, veng-
ence sent him
on the warpath.

Thirty white
scalps adorned
his belt. But
humanity was
still in his heart.
On J u l y 12,
1774 with eight
warriors he at-
tacked a settle-
ment on the
Muskin g u m
and captured
two prisoners.
His mates pre-
pared the pair
for torture. But
Logan cut the
cords of one.
The^Tman was
saved from se-
vere torture.

In his bitter-
n e s s , Logan
d e b a u c hed
freely a n d is
said to have
been shot in
1791[byhisown
nephew in a
drunken brawl.
The name Lo-
gan is believed
to have been
taken from the
b en evo l e n t

Slate Rock Fal ls near Geneva , beside whose t u m b l i n g wa te r s once l a y an I n d i a n vil lage
wiped ou t by smal lpox.
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and the white man in the Ohio valley. Thomas Jef-
ferson in speaking of his address there beside the
Scioto River declares it to challenge the art of Cicero,
Demosthenes and European and American statesmen.
Logan said:

"I appeal to any white man if he ever^entered Lo-
gan ' s" cabin
hungry and I
gave him not
bread; if ever
he came cold
and naked and
I gave him not
clothing. Dur-
ing the course
of the last long
and bloody,
war, Logan re-
mained in his
tent, an advo-
cate of peace.
Nay, such was
my love for the
w h i t e s tha t
those of my own
country point-
ed at me as they
passed and said,
'Logan is the
friend of white
men.'

"I have even
thought to live
with you, but
for the injuries
of one man.
Colonel Cresap,
last spring, in
cold blood and
unprovoked,
cut off all the
relatives of Lo-
gan; not spar-
ing even my
w o m e n and
children. There
runs not a drop
of my blood in
the veins of a
human crea-
ture. This call-
ed on me for
revenge. I have
s o u g h t i t . I
h a v e k i l l ed
many. I have

James Logan, friend of the Indian chief's father and
of William Penn.

It was in 1774 that Logan's career was at its zenith
and he delivered his historic speech. Beneath an
ancient elm, on the plains of Pickway, six miles south
of Circleville, O. he met Col. John Dunmore of Virginia
and agreed to end the last great war between the Indian

fully glutted my vengence. For my country I rejoice
at the beams of peace. Yet, do not harbor the thought
that mine is the joy of fear. Logan never felt fear.
He will not turn his heel to save his life. Who is there
to mourn for Logan? Not one."

That plaintive call of woe is wrought in bronze
upon Auburn's monument to Logan's memory.
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Red Jacket

Sagoyewatha, or Red Jacket as he was called by
the British because of a red toac he always wore, was
born about 1755 presumably ;ir Canoga on the west
side of Cayvga Lake. As a boy he resided on Lake
Keuka and seme claim he was born near Branchport.
In civil lite his name was Otetiana, meaning Always
Ready. On his elevation as chief in the ranks of the
Senecas, he receiv-
ed the name, Se-
goyewatha, mean-
ing He KtepsThem
Awake..

Little is known
of his early career,
but it is known he
was never a war-
rior. When Sulli-
van's invasion
came to the lake
country, he ad-
vised retreat. But
the fame of his elo-
quence was a by-
word throughout
Long House. The
speech of Red
Jacket at the great
council of the con-
federated Indians,
held at the mouth
of the Detroit Riv-
er in 1784, was
supposed to have
been his first pub-
lic address. It is
commonly believ-
ed that he was
p resen t at the
Trea ty of Fort
Stanwix in 1784,
o p p o s i n g t h e
treaty.

Red Jacket was
among the fifty
Indian chiefs who
accepted an invi-
tation from Wash-
ington to attend
a conference in
Philadelphia in
1791. There he
made one of the Quaint Indian legends were woven

greatest addresses of his life and was presented with
a great silver medal by Washington, a token which
he wore until his death.

The great orator had a deep rooted antipathy for
Christianity, because of his experience with violated
treaties and white treachery. One of his most famous
speeches was made in 1805 at a council of Indians at
Buffalo, when a missionary from Massachusetts came
to introduce faith.

192.9

"The Great Spirit will not punish us for what we
do not know * * * *," he said. "These Black Coats
talk to the Great Spirit and ask light that we may see
as they do, when they are blind themselves and quarrel
about the light that guides them. These things we
do not understand."

At one time he fell into discredit in his tribe, when
enamies denounced him with a charge of witchcraft.
At 1 is trial, three hours of oration acquitted him.

In the war of
1812 the Senecas
enlisted with the
forces of the Unit-
ed States, with
Red Jacket as a
leader. He dis-
tinguished himself
in action near Fort
George on August
17, 1813, when the
British were de-
feated. Prisoners
at his direction,
were treated with
humanity. As late
as 1821 he pro-
tested against the
intrusions of mis-
sionaries.

Until the day
of his death he
continued to enjoy
distinction and al-
ways wore a great
medal bestowed
o p o n h i m b y
Washington. He
lived in a log cabin
in a lonely spot
near Buffalo, and
scarcely a trav-
eler passed that
way without call-
ing upon the chief
so celebrated for
his wisdom and
o r a t o r y . R e d
Jacket understood
English well, but
would never con-
verse in it, nor

J reply to a speech

, 1 • c 11 • „ , r-., in English until it
about this waterfalls in Naples Glen. f

had been trans-
lated to him. He died January 20, 1830, due to a broken
heart over the losses of the hunting grounds of his
people. He was buried on the Buffalo reservation and
on October 9, 1884, the remains were removed and
again laid to rest in Forest Lawn Cemetery, Buffalo,
with imposing ceremonies. A handsome monument
was unveiled there June 22, 1891 in memory of the
Indian Chiefs buried on the spot. Another monument
to this orator is at Canoga.
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Joseph Brandt
A savage marauder of the frontier, Joseph Brant,

or Thayendanegea, as the Indians called him, has left
a name whose recollection envisions slaughter, mas-
sacre, pillage, plunder, burning and devastation. As
a war chief of the Mohawks he was a terror of the
Finger Lakes a century and a half ago and no Indian
played a greater part in the stirring events of the
Revolution.

Brant's natural gifts were enhanced through cir-
cumstance. Because his sister, Molly, was the mis-
tress of Sir William Johnson, baronet and popular
British Indian agent who died in 1774, he was pro-
vided with a fair English education at Lebanon, Conn.
Johnson gave him a responsible position in the Indian
agency, which he held until the Revolution, when he
fled to Montreal, was taken to Britain/ presented to
the nobility and was persuaded that ancient treaties
of his people bound him as an ally to English arms.

The Indian came back to America to lead his dusky
wariiors against the colonists—a man of dauntless
courage, lofty bearing and inhuman ferocity. His-
torians claim he was the Indian commander in the
massacres of Wyoming and Cherry Valley. It was
Brant who led the Indians at the battle of Newtown,
with Col. John Butler, Indian land speculator, Tory
and friend of Sir William Johnson, leading the
Royalists. As the principal Iroquois leader he harried
the settlers on the Schoharie, Susquehanna and Dela-
ware rivers unmercenfully.

In 1780 Brant surprised and burned Harpersfield
and tormented the Mohawk valley all summer with
about 500 Indians. After the declaration of peace in
1782, this implacable chief tried to incite another war
against the colonies and was a powerful figure as late
as 179S. In 1792 he had an interview with Washington.

Capt. Jeremiah Snyder thus described Brant: "He
was a likely fellow of fierce aspect—tall, rather spare
—well spoken and about thirty years of age. He wore
moccasins elegantly trimmed with beads, leggins and
breech-cloth of superfine blue, short green coat with

lhc modern camper pitches his tent where the red man once buil t his lu

Glenora Fal ls , nea r D u n d e e , over 160 feet high.

silver epaulets, and a small laced round hat. He car-
ried a silver mounted cutlass and was draped in a
blanket of blue cloth, gorgeously decorated with a

red border."
As the result of his ser-

vice in the Revolution the
British gave Brant a grant
of land in 17S5 at the west-
ern extremity of Lake On-
tario in Canada, where he
lived until his death, Nov.
24, 1807. Here he had forty
negro slaves, cowed by the
threat of the tomahawk
should they attempt to
escape. In the latter years
of his life he received a
captain's half pay from the
British, together with pres-
ents which amounted to
#2,500 a year. In age he
studied Greek and trans-
lated a portion of the New
Testament into the Mo-
hawk tongue.
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